
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Planning Committee

Members of the Planning Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are summoned to attend 
a meeting to be held Virtually on Wednesday, 25 November 2020 at 7.00 pm when the business 
specified in the following agenda is proposed to be transacted. Details on how Members can 
attend the meeting will be sent separately. 

In response to COVID-19, the Government has legislated to permit remote attendance by Elected 
Members at formal meetings. This is conditional on other Elected Members and the public being 
able to hear those participating in the meeting. This meeting will be streamed live and can be 
watched via Gravesham Borough Council’s YouTube Channel:- 

www.youtube.com/graveshamtv 

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies for absence 

2. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 5 - 10)

3. Declarations of Interest 
To declare any interest members may have in the items contained on this 
agenda.   When declaring an interest a member must state what their 
interest is.  Any declared interest will fall into one of the following 
categories:

A Disclosable Pecuniary Interest which has been or should have been 
declared to the Monitoring Officer, and in respect of which the member 
must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in question;

An Other Significant Interest under the Code of Conduct and in respect of 
which the member must leave the chamber for the whole of the item in 

http://www.youtube.com/graveshamtv


question unless exercising the right of public speaking extended to the 
general public;

A voluntary announcement of another interest not falling into the above 
categories, made for reasons of transparency.

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the Agenda should be 
considered in private or the items in Part B (if any) in Public 

5. Planning applications for determination by the Board 

a) 20200912 - Land adjacent to The Haven 22A Chalky Bank, 
Gravesend DA11 7NY - Demolition of garages, erection of 
outbuilding and incorporation of land into the garden curtilage of 
22A Chalky Bank - report herewith

(Pages 11 - 30)

6. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the Director 
(Planning & Development) 

A copy of the schedule has been placed in the democracy web library 
and also in the Reception, Civic Centre: - http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ.

7. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

8. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

None

Members

Cllr Lauren Sullivan (Chair)
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
Brian Francis
Bob Lane
Jordan Meade
Elizabeth Mulheran
Tony Rice
Steve Thompson

Substitutes: To be notified

http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ
http://bit.ly/1Uwy6bJ




This page is intentionally left blank



1

Planning Committee

Wednesday, 30 September 2020 7.00 pm

Present:

Cllr Lauren Sullivan (Chair)
Cllr Harold Craske (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
Brian Francis
Bob Lane
Elizabeth Mulheran
Tony Rice
Gary Harding
Lyn Milner

Vicky Nutley Deputy Head of Legal Services (Place)(Medway Council)
Wendy Lane Assistant Director (Planning)
Richard McEllistrum Planning Manager (Development Management)
Peter Price Principal Planner
Richard Hart Principal Planner (Major Sites)
Dave Herrington Digital Manager
Lauren Wallis Committee Services Officer (minutes)

19. Apologies for absence 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Steve Thompson and Cllr Lyn Milner 
attended as his substitute.

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Jordan Meade and Cllr Gary Harding 
attended as his substitute.

20. To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting 

The minutes of the meeting of the Planning Committee held on 2 September 2020 were 
signed by the Chair.

21. Declarations of Interest 

Led by Cllr Bob Lane, all Members present at the meeting made a voluntary announcement 
of another interest in respect of application 20200604 in that they all knew Councillor Diane 
Marsh who was the applicant. However, It was confirmed that this would not affect their 
decision making.
Cllr Harding made a further voluntary announcement of another interest in respect of 
application 20200604 in that Cllr Diane Marsh was a personal friend. However, he and Cllr 
Marsh had not discussed her application and there had been no-predetermination on this 
matter.

Page 5 Agenda Item 2



Planning Committee 30.09.2020

2

Cllr Tony Rice made a further voluntary announcement of another interest in respect of 
application 20200604 in that he was the Chair of the Gravesham Conservative Association 
of which Cllr Diane Marsh was also a senior member and was a close colleague. He 
confirmed that this would not affect his decision making.
Cllr Elizabeth Mulheran made a voluntary announcement of another interest in respect of 
application 20200604 in that she was friends with  a resident who lived at Timberlee who 
would be affected by the proposal. However, she and the resident had not discussed the 
application and there had been no-predetermination on this matter.

22. Planning applications for determination by the Board 

22.1 20200604 - Garage Blocks, Arnold Avenue, Meopham, Gravesend DA13 
0NU 

The Committee considered an application reference 20200604 for the demolition of existing 
lock up garages and the erection of one 1 bedroom wheelchair accessible and adaptable 
chalet bungalow with associated parking.

The Principal Planner showed a plan of the site with the land in Borough Council ownership 
outlined in blue, with 8 lockup garages and an access road. It was confirmed that only two of 
the garages were in use. An aerial view showed the overgrown nature of the site and the 
garages in a state of disrepair. It was noted that the access road had been recently 
resurfaced. The site had experienced problems in the past with anti-social behaviour. The 
properties on Arnold Avenue had been mainly erected in the 1940s and were of mixed 
character.

The proposal was for a single storey L-shaped bungalow wheelchair accessible and 
adaptable with one parking space with a turning area and a small garden. The site included 
a small corner of the garden of 20 Arnold Avenue which had agreed by the tenant of that 
dwelling. It was intended that the mezzanine floor would be useable as a guest bedroom or 
for a carer and there would be a gable window and two small rooflights in the roof. It was 
noted that the amenity space of the proposal had been slightly constrained by the site. 
However, a wheelchair user occupant might find it difficult to look after a bigger space.

The proposal would have a slight impact on neighbouring properties at 19 and 21 Arnold 
Avenue and Timberlee on Whitehill Road. The gable window in the first floor of the proposed 
dwelling would be 21 metres away from the nearest houses in Arnold Road. The proposed 
dwelling would be 7 metres away from Timberlee but the part of the bungalow facing this 
residence at its nearest point would be only slightly higher than a garden outbuilding.

In conclusion, the officer recommended that permission be granted subject to the conditions, 
reasons and informatives set out in the report.

The application was before the Board because the applicant was Gravesham Borough 
Council.

The Committee heard the views of the public speaker who spoke in objection to this 
application and who answered questions from Members.

Page 6



Planning Committee 30.09.2020

3

The following points were raised during discussion on this application.

 It was noted that the garages were not used because it was likely they were not big 
enough for the modern car.

 In relation to the outlook of Timberlee, it was suggested that the height of the 
proposed dwelling be reduced by 0.9 metres. The Committee was advised that a 
reduction would bring an inferior design to the dwelling for example, a flat roof and 
would also cause the loss of storage space and the mezzanine floor.

 The suggestion that a wheelchair user would prefer a small garden was considered 
to be patronising and it was also noted that the amenity area might be only outlook 
that the future occupant would have. The site was also surrounded by 2 metre high 
fences which would give the appearance of being hemmed in which might give rise to 
mental health issues. The officer advised that his comments had not meant to 
patronise and he had taken the advice of the Council’s New Homes Strategy 
Development Manager with regard to the suitability of the amenity space. The need 
for a wheelchair user dwelling and the quiet location had also been taken into 
account. The officer suggested that some soft landscaping in relation to the fences 
might improve the outlook and the officer undertook to discuss the matter with the 
Council’s Horticultural Manager.

 It was noted that 23 Arnold Road had access to the site to allow parking in the rear 
garden and there was no formally agreed right of wat, the scheme did accommodate 
this right of way.

 A suggestion was made about the turning area for a vehicle on the site being made 
smaller to expand the amenity area. However, Members were advised that the 
turning space would allow for the manoeuvring of a visiting vehicle as well as the 
neighbouring access. 

 Concern was expressed at the removal the corner of the rear garden no. 20 Arnold 
Road which was a Council-owned property, to enable the expansion of the 
application site. The Committee was advised that the resident of no. 20 had been 
approached in October 2019 and had agreed to give up a corner of the rear garden. 
It was noted that the resident considered the loss of this part of the rear garden a 
welcome step as the resident was struggling to maintain the garden. The Planning 
Manager (Development Management) confirmed that Council officers would use the 
same approach for owner occupiers and tenants irrespective of who owned the 
property. 

 A suggestion was made that if the resident of no. 20 was struggling with the 
maintenance of the garden, perhaps the resident would be amenable to giving up 
more of the garden to enable the enlargement of the application’s amenity space. 

 The support of Meopham Parish Council for this application was noted.
 Concern was expressed that the proposal was away from the road and isolated from 

neighbouring properties precluding neighbourliness and community spirit.
 Following a question from a Member, the registered speaker confirmed that 

neighbouring properties were slightly concerned about where visitors to the proposed 
dwelling would park but nothing more negative had been expressed.

 The Principal Planner confirmed that the proposed residence conformed to the 
Council’s residential layout guidelines and privacy guidelines which were set out with 
the Council’s planning policies.

 It was noted that the Council had approved similar applications in similar locations in 
the past  with limited amenity space.

Page 7



Planning Committee 30.09.2020

4

Resolved that application be PERMITTED subject to the conditions, reason and 
informatives as set out in the officer’s report.

Note: Mr Lee Schofield (a resident)(an objector) addressed the Committee.

22.2 20200670 - 135 Sun Lane, Gravesend, Kent DA12 5HW 

The Committee considered an application reference 20200670 for the demolition of the 
garage, the erection of a single storey rear extension, the construction of dormer extensions 
in the front and rear roof slopes with alterations to the roof and conversion of the roof space 
into habitable rooms.

The Principal Planner advised that the site was on the north east side of Sun Lane and the 
Committee was shown photographs of the front and rear of the hipped roof bungalow. It was 
noted that the garage in the rear garden had been demolished, two garden outbuildings built 
and that the existing vehicular access remained. The neighbouring terraced houses had 
been built in the early 1900s and the dwelling on the other side had been built in the garden 
of the application site. Three storey flats and Pegasus Court were on the opposite side of the 
road to the application site.

The Principal Planner confirmed that the property had never been extended. The application 
proposed to alter the current hipped roof design to a half hipped barn ends and this would 
increase the existing roof height by 0.55 metres and with box type dormers both front and 
rear. The Committee was shown a number of photographic examples of both types of 
traditional and box type dormers at the front of dwellings at the front of dwellings nearby and 
locally or elsewhere within the Borough that had been built or had been granted planning 
permission.  The dormers would enable the provision of three bedrooms, an ensuite 
bathroom and another bathroom in the roof space and would convert the existing bungalow 
into a chalet bungalow increasing the number of bedrooms from three to four in total. The 
key issues were set out in the report and it was noted that the rear dormers did not require 
planning permission.

An objection had been received from a neighbour living to the rear of the site. However, the 
proposal was a significant distance from the property line and the proposed single storey 
extension lined up with the property line of neighbouring properties. It was also noted that 
the single storey extension could be built under permitted development rights.

A Parking Plan had been submitted since the publication of the agenda which showed there 
was space for 3 vehicles to be parked alongside the dwelling which for the proposed 4 
bedroom property should be sufficient. The Principal Planner also suggested an additional 
condition to prohibit the future use of the flat roof as an amenity space/sun terrace.

In conclusion, the officer recommended that permission be granted subject to the conditions, 
reasons and informatives set out in the report together with the suggested additional 
condition in relation to the flat roof of the single storey extension.

The application was before the Board as the applicant was a Gravesham Borough 
Councillor.

Page 8



Planning Committee 30.09.2020

5

The following points were raised during discussion on this application.

 Following a question from a Member, the officer confirmed that had the applicant not 
been a Borough Councillor, then the application would have been determined by 
officers.

 It was noted that the proposed Juliet balcony would prevent the use of the flat roof 
being used as a sun terrace. However, it was also noted that this could easily be 
removed to enable access to the roof.

 It was confirmed that there was space to park three cars on the existing access, 
alongside the dwelling, in lieu of the former garage in the rear garden of the site.

 The officer advised that he was not aware of any objections from the applicant of the 
agent to the proposed conditions and informatives etc.

 Following a concern raised in relation to the proposed box type dormer at the front of 
the house and whether a precedent would be set, the Committee was reminded that 
every application should be considered of its individual merits. However, the officer 
acknowledged that not many examples of the use of box type dormers in bungalows, 
however he felt that the proposal would fit comfortably, was modest in size and would 
not be harmful to the street scene or in terms of amenity. The box dormers had been 
set into the sides of the hipped roof and down from the ridgeline in an effort to 
alleviate the visual impact on the street scene.

 The Chair cited the example of the guidelines for windows in Conservation Areas and 
noted that perhaps guidelines for the use of dormers would also be useful, and 
whether the proposal was consistent with the Council’s draft Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD) on Residential Extensions. The Assistant Director (Planning) 
advised that the draft SPD had only very recently been consulted upon and was not 
yet a material consideration.

 The officer advised that the proposal met the residential space guidelines including 
those for privacy and distance. It would be close to the properties at the rear of the 
dwelling but was set at an angle so there would be no direct view or overlooking. 
Members also noted that many properties, including Victorian houses, had flat roofs.

 A motion for a site visit was moved, seconded and put to the vote and the vote was 
lost.

Resolved that application 20200670 be PERMITTED subject to the conditions, 
reasons and informatives as set out in the officer’s report including an 
amended condition in relation to parking and an additional condition 
prohibiting use of the flat roof of the rear extension as a terrace area.

23. Planning applications determined under delegated powers by the 
Director (Planning & Development) 

A schedule showing applications determined by the Director (Planning & Development) 
under delegated powers had been published on the Council’s website.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.30 pm

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE REPORT

Application Ref: 20200912

Site Address: Land adjacent to The Haven 22A Chalky Bank Gravesend DA11 7NY

Application 
Description:

Demolition of garages, erection of outbuilding and incorporation of land 
into the garden curtilage of 22A Chalky Bank.  

Applicant: Mr Amandeep Sahota

Agent: ---------

Ward: Woodlands

Parish: Non-Parish Area

Decision due date: 09 November 2020; Extension of time until 30 November 2020

Publicity expiry date: 05 October 2020

Decision Level: Planning Committee - 25 November 2020 

Reasons for referral: Applicant is related to a member of planning staff at Gravesham 
Borough Council

Recommendation: PERMISSION subject to conditions, reasons and informatives 

_______________________________________________________________________________________________

SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

This application is for the demolition of garages, erection of an outbuilding and the incorporation of 
land into the garden curtilage of 22A Chalky Bank.  

The garages had, just prior to the submission of the application, been demolished and the land 
already incorporated into the garden of 22A Chalky Bank and enclosed by fencing but the 
construction of the outbuilding has not commenced.

The proposed outbuilding would be used for a home gymnasium and office for the occupants of the 
dwelling, which would be regarded as being ordinarily incidental to the enjoyment of the dwelling 
and, whilst the outbuilding is relatively large, its size and siting are such that it would normally be 
Permitted Development within the garden of a single family dwelling.  The development is 
acceptable in design terms.  It is not considered that the development would be harmful to the street 
scene as it will be located in what will be the foot of the extended rear garden of the dwelling and 
thus screened from more public vantage points.  It is low in scale and not significantly larger in terms 
of its footprint than the pair of garages that it will replace on the site.

It is acknowledged that there are some neighbour concerns to the impact of the development, to 
the loss of garaging and the proposed use.  However it is considered that there will be no material 
overshadowing or overlooking impacts or harm to the privacy and amenity of adjacent properties 
and the proposal complies with Policy CS19 Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (LPCS) and 
paragraph 127 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019.  The development does 
not conflict with the adopted residential layout guidelines.

Page 11 Agenda Item 5a



Although the development has resulted in the removal of two garages on the site which would 
have provided off street parking for both the applicants dwelling at 22A Chalky Bank and also for 
the adjoining dwelling at 402 Wrotham Road, there is already alternative parking available, 
including in the front garden of the applicants dwelling and, as such, there are no highway 
objections. 

The application has been fully considered and subject to appropriate planning conditions it is 
concluded that planning permission can be granted.  

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

MAIN REPORT

1. Site Description and Surroundings

1.1 22A Chalky Bank is a two storey detached 3 bedroom dwelling on the west side of Chalky 
Bank Gravesend built in the late 1960’s.  

1.2 The extent of the garden curtilage around the time of the submission of this planning 
application is as shown in the plan below as delineated by the blue line

1.3 The dwelling is gable fronted and is constructed of rendered and painted brickwork with 
Cedral cladding to the upper floor and it has a low pitch concrete tiled roof.

1.4 It has been extended at the rear in 2016 by a full width single storey rear extension (built 
as Permitted Development) and an open canopy on the south side that provides a side 
main entrance.

1.5 The current dwelling exterior also dates from 2016 which replaced the original exterior of 
part brickwork and part shiplap boarding.  The Google Earth images below shows the 
appearance of the dwelling in 2008 (left), while the dwelling as now is shown to the right. 

Page 12



               

1.6 The dwelling has parking on the front garden hardstanding, which is block paved, for two 
cars.

1.7 There was a pair of garages at the foot of the rear garden of 22A Chalky Bank rearward of 
the flat roofed double garage just beyond the rear of the dwelling, the latter double garage 
being within the garden of 38 Chalk Bank.  The pair of garages were located at the foot of 
the rear garden of 402 Wrotham Road which lies to the west.  The pair of garages were 
demolished at the time of the submission of this application and the access to them closed 
off by new fencing.

2 Relevant Planning History

Planning Applications 

2.1 TH/2/68/54: Erection of a detached house and private garage.  Permission 06 June 1968

2.2 From an interrogation of the original 1968 plans the approved plans show that one of 
the pair of garages was to be allocated for the new dwelling fronting Chalky Bank with 

Page 13



the other for use of the adjoining dwelling to the west at 402 Wrotham Road with a 
shared drive on to Chalky Bank (see extract from plan below).  

3 Proposal

3.1 The proposal is for demolition of garages, erection of outbuilding and incorporation of land 
into the garden curtilage of 22A Chalky Bank.  

3.2 It should be noted that the application is effectively part retrospective as the garages have 
already been demolished and the site of the garages and the access to them now partly 
enclosed by 2m high fencing. 

Submitted Drawings and Documents

3.3 The submitted drawings and documents are as follows:

Forms and Documents

Application Form;
Unnumbered Site Location Plan - Existing; 
Unnumbered Site Location Plan - Proposed;
Unnumbered Block Plan - Existing; 
Unnumbered Block Plan - Proposed;
Drawing No A101 - Proposed Elevations and Floor Layout;

Page 14



Details of the Development

3.4 The proposal is for the erection of a new outbuilding measuring 8m deep by 7m wide and a 
height of 2.94m above ground level to be built on the same site as the demolished garages.  
It will have a flat roof with the guttering facing the applicant’s garden and with two roof lights 
in the roof.  

3.5 The building is shown to contain a shower-room and toilet with windows and doors facing 
towards the rear of the existing dwelling.

3.6 The applicant has clarified that the outbuilding will be used as a home gymnasium and 
home office.  The applicant has advised in terms of the ground levels:

The ground level maybe changed by a few inches just to level the ground, no soil will be 
removed from site, just a light scrape to level the ground. There is a dip in the middle so 3 
or 4 inches from the front of the garden will be scrapped to the middle and 3 or 4 inches 
from the back of the garden will be scrapped to the middle just to get it level. There will be 
no decking or raised hard standing.

3.7 Further email correspondence with the applicant has indicated that the floor level of the 
proposed outbuilding will be the same at the original garage building on the site.  He has 
advised on potential encroachment and neighbour impact as follows:

The neighbour to my right (22 Chalky Bank) will not be affected as his property ends two- 
thirds of the way down, the neighbour to the left I will put up kick boards to make sure no 
earth pushes his fence but it may be a couple of inches higher there. The neighbour to my 
right at the back (20 Chalky Bank) won’t be affected at the outbuilding wall will be his 
boundary.

4. Planning Policy, Development Plan and other Material Considerations

4.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires planning 
applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.  Where there are other material considerations, the 
development plan should be the starting point, and other material considerations should 

Page 15



be taken into account in reaching a decision.  One such consideration will be whether 
the plan policies are relevant and up to date.

4.2 The Development Plan for Gravesham comprises:-

• The Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014)
• Remaining Saved Policies of the Local Plan First Review (1994)
• Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013 - 2030 (July 2016)

Local Planning Guidance

Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy, September 2014

4.3 The Core Strategy sets out the Council's spatial vision and strategic objectives for the 
Borough to 2028 and the policies which will deliver them. It identifies the main areas 
where major change is likely to take place and allocates sites which are key to 
achieving the strategy.

4.4 The development site is shown as being within a urban area in the Gravesham Local Plan 
Policies Map.  

4.5 The most relevant policies from the adopted Core Strategy in relation to this 
development are as follows:

 Core Strategy Policy CS01: Sustainable Development
 Core Strategy Policy CS02: Scale and Distribution of Development
 Core Strategy Policy CS11: Transport
 Core Strategy Policy CS18: Climate Change
 Core Strategy Policy CS19:  Development and Design Principles

Policy CS19 (Development and Design Principles) sets out detailed criteria against 
which the acceptability or otherwise of proposed development will be evaluated.  In 
particular it requires new development to be visually attractive, fit for purpose and locally 
distinctive.  It should conserve and enhance the character of the local built and natural 
environment and integrate well with the surrounding area.  It requires new development 
to safeguard the amenity, including privacy, daylight and sunlight, of its occupants and 
those of neighbouring properties and land and avoid adverse environmental impacts 
from pollution.

Gravesham Local Plan First Review 1994

4.6 The Gravesham Local Plan First Review was originally adopted in November 1994.

4.7 A substantial number of policies of the Gravesham Local Plan First Review were saved 
by a Direction dated 25 September 2007 of the Secretary of State under paragraph 1 
(3) of Schedule 8 to the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 as transitional 
arrangements pending adoption of the Core Strategy.

4.8 Those Local Plan First Review policies that remain in force are listed in Appendix 1 of 
the Local Plan Core Strategy.  The remaining saved policies will be replaced following 
the adoption of the Site Allocations and Development Management Policies 
Development Plan Document.

Page 16



4.9 The following remaining saved policies are relevant to the consideration of this 
application:

• Policy P3: Vehicle Parking Standards
• Policy T1: Impact of development on the Highway Network
• Policy T5: New Accesses onto Highway Network

Review of Local Plan 

4.10 Paragraph 33 of the NPPF (2019) sets out those policies within adopted local plans should 
be reviewed to assess whether they need updating at least once every five years, and 
should then be updated as necessary. Such reviews are also a legal requirement as set 
out in Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) England 
Regulations 2012.

4.11 The Council undertook such a review in September 2019 and the review found that the 
adopted Local Plan Core Strategy is in need of a partial review in terms of Policy CS02 due 
to the increased need for housing since the Local Plan Core Strategy was adopted and the 
need to ensure a sufficient land supply exists to meet this need. Whilst saved policies from 
the Local Plan 1st Review (1994) general conform to the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2019), the Council will also seek to replace these.

4.12 In addition, the Council published in 2018 a Regulation 18 (stage 1) consultation on its 
proposed Site Allocations and Development Management Policies DPD, which will in due 
course form part of and update the Gravesham Local Plan (a Regulation 18 [Stage 2] 
consultation is currently underway) .  Under paragraph 48 of the NPPF, policies in this 
document may be accorded weight in the decision making process with this varying 
according to its stage of preparation; the extent to which there are unresolved objections; 
and the degree of consistency of policy with those in the Framework. As the Site 
Allocations and Development Management Policies DPD is at a very early stage and the 
fact that the consultation is still on-going, the policies therein should at this stage be given 
very limited weight.  It should be noted, in any event, that many of the relevant policies 
reflect those set out in the Framework and for the purposes of this application these should 
be relied on instead.

Other Material Considerations 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)

4.13 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), June 2019, is a material consideration. 

4.14 At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development (paragraph 
11) which means approving development proposals that accord with the development plan 
without delay and where there are no relevant development plan policies or where the 
policies are out of date planning permission should be granted unless policies of the 
Framework provide a clear reason for refusing the development such as where land is 
designated as Green Belt or any adverse impacts would so significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits or specific policies in the NPPF taken as a whole.

4.15 The NPPF includes (in paragraph 8) three overarching objectives to achieving sustainable 
development:

 an economic objective; 
 a social objective; and
 an environmental objective. 

Page 17



4.16 The following paragraphs are specifically highlighted as being of importance to the 
consideration of the application proposals, but it should not be taken that these are the only 
parts of the NPPF that need to be considered. Reference to the national planning guidance 
is also considered in the analysis section of this report.

 Section 2, Paragraphs 7 - 14: Achieving Sustainable Development
 Section 4, Paragraphs 38 - 58: Decision Making
 Section 9, Paragraphs 102 - 111: Promoting Sustainable Transport
 Section 12, Paragraphs 124 - 132: Achieving well-designed places

Paragraph 127 indicates that planning policies and decisions should ensure that 
developments should...create places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which 
promote health and well-being, with a high standard of amenity for existing and future 
users; and where crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of 
life or community cohesion and resilience.

The National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)

4.17 Planning Practice Guidance (http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/) supports and 
clarifies areas in the NPPF.

4.18 It contains guidance on assessing housing need; design; public consultation; open space 
provision in new development; travel plans, transport assessments and statements in 
decision-taking; health and wellbeing; water supply, wastewater and water quality; light 
pollution; determining a planning application; the use of planning conditions and viability, 
amongst other things.

4.19 The NPPG gives guidance on what is a material planning consideration in determining a 
planning application indicating that the impact of a development on the value of a 
neighbouring property or loss of private rights to light could not be material considerations.

4.20 The NPPG includes more detailed advice on the use of planning conditions (replacing the 
cancelled Circular 11/95).  It outlines the six tests.

Supplementary Planning Guidance and other Documents
     
4.21 The Council has adopted a number of Supplementary Planning Guidance documents, 

Development Briefs and Conservation Area Appraisals.  These elaborate on saved policies 
in the Gravesham Local Plan First Review and policies in the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy and are material considerations in determining planning applications.  

4.22 In addition the Council has adopted a number of documents that have been produced by 
Kent County Council also as Supplementary Guidance.

4.23 The following documents are relevant to the consideration of this application:

• SPG 4 - KCC Parking Standards (2006)
• SPG 2 - Residential Layout Guidelines (1996, revised June 2020)

5. Consultations, Publicity and Representations

Consultations

Page 18

http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/


5.1 The following consultations responses have been received. 

GBC Highways Development Management Officer  

The property has car parking in the front garden, and whilst it may not to be considered 
ideal, it exists. No objections.

Ward Councillors

No comments received 

Publicity and Representations

5.2 This application was publicised by way of individual letters sent to 7 surrounding 
properties. The publicity expiry date was 5 October 2020

5.3 Four representations have been received, 3 being from the same respondent.  

5.4 The representations from the same respondent object to the building plans and suggest 
that the garages should be rebuilt.  Comments are also made that the garages have 
already been demolished without permission and that the garages contained asbestos 
and this was not enforced by Building Control.  A number of other comments are made 
relating to previous disputes about the lack of maintenance of the former access drive to 
the garages, the blocking of the access and the failure to comply with the current sale 
deeds by not installing a fence or wall on the boundary within an agreed time period.  
However these are not material planning considerations but are civil issues.

5.5 The other neighbour representation does not object to the application in principle and 
assumes the use of the building will be personal recreation / leisure / entertainment, but 
their only concern is potential noise intrusion on the neighbourhood and asks that this 
risk be minimised through suitable insulation and sound proofing in the construction and 
finish, without which this substantial 108 cubic metre space could be a giant echo 
chamber.

6. Planning Analysis and Development Manager Comments

Principle of the Development

6.1 Policy CS01 (Sustainable Development) indicates that when considering development 
proposals the Borough Council will take a positive approach that reflects the presumption 
in favour of sustainable development contained in the National Planning Policy Framework 
and in the Core Strategy.

6.2 The application site is situated in an urban area.  Policy CS02 (Scale and Distribution of 
Development) of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014 indicates that the strategy 
prioritises development in the urban area as a sustainable location for development.

6.3 There are therefore no policy objections to the principle of development on this site subject 
to the proposal complying with the relevant policies relating to design, amenity, parking 
provision, biodiversity and any other material planning considerations.

Page 19



The Key Issues

6.4 The key issues to be considered in the assessment of this planning application are as 
follows:

• Design, Character and appearance;
• Amenity for future residents;
• Impact on surrounding properties;
• Highway Impacts and Vehicle Parking; and
• Other Material Considerations

Design, Character and Appearance 

6.5 Policy CS19 of Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (LPCS) requires development to 
conserve and enhance the character of the local built, historic and natural environment, 
integrate well with the surrounding local area and meet anti-crime standards. This stance is 
reflected in chapter 12 (Achieving well-designed places) of the NPPF (2019).

Permitted Development Rights

6.6 The committee are advised that the planning position in relation to outbuildings in the 
curtilage of existing dwellings is that under the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015, as amended, (Article 3 of and Class E 
of part 1 of schedule 2) it is permitted development, that is to say that planning 
permission is not required for any building or enclosure, swimming or other pool 
required for a purpose incidental to the enjoyment of the dwellinghouse as such.  
Examples could include common buildings such as garden sheds, other storage 
buildings, garages, greenhouses and summerhouses.  A purpose incidental to a house 
would not, however, cover normal residential uses, such as separate self-contained 
accommodation or the use of an outbuilding for primary living accommodation such as a 
bedroom, bathroom, or kitchen.  In determining whether a building is required for 
purposes incidental to the enjoyment of the occupiers of the existing dwelling there is 
some relevant planning case law that has interpreted the meaning of reasonably 
required taking into account the scale of the outbuilding and intended use in relation to 
the host dwelling. 

6.7 There are also size limitations including, amongst other things, that:

 the total area of ground covered by buildings, enclosures and containers within the 
curtilage (other than the original dwellinghouse) would exceed 50% of the total area 
of the curtilage (excluding the ground area of the original dwellinghouse);

  any part of the building, enclosure, pool or container would be situated on land 
forward of a wall forming the principal elevation of the original dwellinghouse;

 the building would have more than a single storey;
 the height of the building, enclosure or container would exceed - 

(i) 4 metres in the case of a building with a dual-pitched roof, 
(ii) 2.5 metres in the case of a building, enclosure or container within 2 metres of the 
boundary of the curtilage of the dwellinghouse, or  
(iii) 3 metres in any other case

6.8 In the vast majority of cases where domestic outbuildings are proposed to be built in the 
curtilage of an existing dwelling, planning permission is not required.  In this case 

Page 20



planning permission is required because the outbuilding is to be built on land that was 
until recently outside of the actual garden curtilage and in any event the permitted 
development height limitations would be exceeded, in this case as the outbuilding would 
be 2.94m high, thus nearly 0.5 metres (1.6ft) above the 2.5 metre permitted 
development height limitations, which apply as the building would be within 2 metres of 
the boundary of the curtilage of the dwellinghouse

6.9 An extract from the submitted plans is shown below.

6.10 The proposed outbuilding is considered to be relatively low in scale and sited at the rear 
of the extended rear garden.  It is not significantly larger in terms of its footprint than the 
pair of garages that it will replace on the site.  It is not out of scale with the footprint of 
the existing dwelling, it would not be widely visible for public vantage points and is of a 
reasonable design and not overtly bulky in its siting and context.  It is noted that there is 
a substantially larger outbuilding with a pitched roof at the foot of the rear garden of 406 
Wrotham Road just to the south of the application site.  There is also a large flat roofed 
double garage immediately to the south of the application site within the garden of the 
adjoining dwelling at 38 Chalky Bank.  The development therefore accords with Core 
Strategy Policy CS19 and the NPPF in respect of its design, character and appearance.

Amenity for future residents

6.11 Policy CS19 (LPCS) seeks to protect amenity and ensure acceptable future living 
conditions are acceptable within proposed developments.  The NPPF (2019) also assists 
and seeks to ensure developments will function well, does not undermine the quality of life 
and create attractive and comfortable places to live, work and visit and seeks to “secure 
high quality design and a good standard of amenity for all existing and future occupants of 
land and buildings”.

6.12 The development as proposed would provide the applicants with a home gym and a home 
office thereby freeing up such uses currently taking place within the existing dwelling.  It 
will also include an extension to the applicants existing garden.  Although the current rear 

Page 21



garden is not substandard relative to adopted standards in the GBC Residential Layout 
Guidelines, the incorporation of additional land within the applicant’s garden would add to 
the available amenity space for the applicant’s family.

6.13 In addition the removal of the adjoining garage along with the access and parking and 
manoeuvring that would have occurred at the rear of the property and the private 
amenity space to the applicants dwelling would be beneficial to their amenity and 
privacy.

6.14 The proposal will therefore provide acceptable living conditions that safeguard the 
amenity of future occupiers in accordance with Policy CS19 (LPCS). 

Impact on surrounding properties

6.15 Development should not cause demonstrable harm to the amenity of any existing residents 
or property such that it will materially harm their living conditions.  Policy CS19 (LPCS) 
requires new development to safeguard the amenity, including privacy, daylight and 
sunlight, of its occupants and those of neighbouring properties and land and paragraph 
127 of the NPPF (2019) which requires the amenity of existing residents to be protected.

Demolition

6.16 The Committee will note that there have been some neighbour comments relating to the 
development including that the garages have already been demolished.  The planning 
position in relation to demolition is that demolition of buildings (such as dwellings) is 
permitted development, that is to say that planning permission is not required, but this is 
subject normally to a prior approval procedure as to the method of demolition and 
restoration of the land. This is qualified further in that demolition of small domestic 
outbuildings are exempt from the need to even apply for prior approval with the threshold 
being 50 cubic metres in volume which is around the size of a double garage. Although it 
appears that the pair of garages on this site have already been removed the width of the 
pair of garages was 6.3m with a depth of 5.6m and a height of 2.5m which is a volume of 
88 cubic metres. Whilst this would have required prior approval for demolition prior 
approval as such cannot now been applied retrospectively and demolition is therefore 
included in the planning description for the planning application, even though it is 
acknowledged that this has already occurred.

Neighbour Impacts 

6.17 The proposed outbuilding would be sited at the foot of the rear garden and would be some 
18m away from the rear elevation of the adjoining dwelling at 22 Chalky Bank and a similar 
distance from the rear elevation of no 20 Chalky Bank whose rear garden also adjoins the 
application site.  The outbuilding would be closer to the other adjoining dwelling at 38 
Chalky Bank (at 5m at its nearest point) but this is to a side (flank) elevation of that 
dwelling.  As a single storey building only and with an external height of 2.94m it is not 
considered that the outbuilding would result in a material loss of outlook, light, overlooking 
or loss of privacy or sense of enclosure to the neighbouring properties.  There is no 
specific breach of or conflict with the adopted residential layout guidelines.

6.18 The height of the outbuilding is less than 0.5 metres (1ft 6inches) higher than normal 
permitted development limitations for domestic outbuildings of 2.5m for such buildings 
which are sited within 2m of a neighbouring boundary (and which if more than 2m away 
can be up to 3m in height or 4m with a ridged roof without normally requiring planning 
permission.  Its height therefore would not impact on neighbouring dwellings but it would 

Page 22



be important to ensure that the height is not raised above existing ground levels and this 
could be controlled through an appropriate planning condition.  

Use and Noise Impacts

6.19 The use of the outbuilding as proposed for a home gymnasium and as a home office are 
acceptable uses in this domestic location subject to the use remaining only for personal 
use and not for any business use or wider use.  It is considered that this can be reasonably 
controlled and mitigated by the imposition of a suitable planning condition as set out in the 
recommendation to this committee.

6.20 It is noted that a neighbour has expressed concern about potential noise from the building 
and how this can be controlled through suitable insulation and sound proofing in the 
construction and finish.  In such cases this would is a matter which does not generally see 
control applied through planning control, given the location and normal domestic function of 
the outbuilding. In the event of any significant noise disturbance, there may also be 
protection from noise and disturbance to local residents under environmental health 
legislation.  It is nevertheless noted that the plans show insulation to the walls and roof of 
the building.

Highway Impacts and Vehicle Parking

6.21 The proposal has involved the loss of garaging on the site which would have provided 
off street parking for both the applicants dwelling at 22A Chalky Bank and also for the 
adjoining dwelling at 402 Wrotham Road providing potentially a garage and possible 
parking space in front each.  Each garage internally was 9ft by 16ft (2.7m x 4.8m) and 
thus the garages were relatively small and probably not practically useable for modern 
day standard cars and below the preferred garage size as recommended in SPG 4 - 
KCC Parking Standards (2006) of 5.5m x 3.6m internally.

6.22 It should be noted that 22A Chalky Bank now has, since circa 2016, front garden 
parking on a new vehicle hardstanding sufficient for two cars thus already providing 
replacement parking for that displaced by the demolition of the garages.  The existing 
adjacent dwelling at 402 Wrotham Road does not have any off street parking but 
potentially the front garden could be utilised subject to compliance with relevant 
planning criteria, and in any case, sufficient adjacent on street parking capacity is 
considered to exist at that property

6.23 There are no objections from the Council’s Highways Development Management Officer 
and notwithstanding the loss of garaging, the proposals would conform to local and 
national highway and parking policies.  It is not considered, having regard to the 
intended use of the building, that the proposals would necessarily generate any 
additional traffic to the site or further on-site parking requirements.  

Other Material Considerations

6.24 There are no other material planning considerations and no loss of biodiversity or loss of 
trees or landscaping on the site as a result of this development.

6.25 There were some neighbour comments in response to the neighbour notification that are 
effectively civil issues and are not material planning considerations. 

Page 23



7 Conclusions and Balancing Exercise

7.1 The proposed outbuilding would be used for a home gymnasium and office for the 
occupants of the dwelling, which would be regarded as being ordinarily incidental to the 
enjoyment of the dwelling and, whilst the outbuilding is relatively large, its size and siting 
are such that it would normally be permitted development within the garden of a single 
family dwelling.  

7.2 The development is acceptable in design terms.  It is not considered that the development 
would be harmful to the street scene as it will be located in what will be the foot of the 
extended rear garden of the dwelling and thus screened from more public vantage points.  
It is low in scale and not significantly larger in terms of its footprint than the pair of garages 
that it will replace on the site.

7.3 It is acknowledged that there are some neighbour concerns to the impact of the 
development, loss of garaging and use.  However it is considered that there will be no 
material overshadowing or overlooking impacts or harm to the privacy and amenity of 
adjacent properties and the proposal complies with Policy CS19 (LPCS) and paragraph 
127 of the NPPF (2019).  The development does not conflict with the adopted residential 
layout guidelines.

7.4 Although the development has resulted in the removal of two garages on the site which 
would have provided (albeit undersized and less usable for vehicles of a modern size) off 
street parking for both the applicants dwelling at 22A Chalky Bank and also for the 
adjoining dwelling at 402 Wrotham Road, there is already alternative parking in the front 
garden of the applicants dwelling and there are no highway objections 

7.5 The application has been fully considered and subject to appropriate planning conditions it 
is considered that planning permission can be granted.  

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

RECOMMENDATION

The recommendation is for PERMISSION, subject to the following conditions, reasons and 
informatives

CONDITIONS AND REASONS 

Time Limit Condition 

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the expiration of 
three years beginning with the date on which this permission is granted.

Reason: In pursuance of section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by 
Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Approved Plans and Particulars

Page 24



2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out only in precise accordance with the 
following approved details, plans and specifications:

Application Form;
Unnumbered Site Location Plan - Existing; 
Unnumbered Site Location Plan - Proposed;
Unnumbered Block Plan - Existing; 
Unnumbered Block Plan - Proposed;
Drawing No A101 - Proposed Elevations and Floor Layout;

and those approved pursuant to any conditions contained herein after and there shall be no 
deviation therefrom. 

Reason: In order to ensure the development is implemented on the basis of the scheme as 
submitted and assessed in the interests of proper planning and in accordance with Policy CS19 
of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy (September 2014).

Materials

3. The materials and colours to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
outbuilding hereby permitted shall match the ground floor elevations of the existing dwelling and 
such work shall be completed prior to the first occupation of the development; any variation to the 
external appearance of the outbuilding shall be first submitted for the approval of the Local 
Planning Authority before the commencement of any above ground works and thereafter 
implemented in accordance with any such approved details.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual relationship between the existing and the new 
development in accordance with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 
(September 2014).

Use of the Outbuilding

4. The outbuilding hereby permitted shall be used only for the purpose of a home gymnasium and 
home office incidental to the enjoyment of the main dwelling at The Haven, 22A Chalky Bank 
Gravesend and for no other purpose and no development, whether or not permitted by the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015, (or any provision equivalent 
to those Classes in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order) shall take place.  
For the avoidance of doubt the building shall not at any time contain any primary living 
accommodation or be sold, parted, let or exchanged as a separate unit of living accommodation 
and no trade or business shall be carried on therefrom.

Reason: In order to restrict the use/occupancy of the outbuilding and to ensure that the 
development is in accordance with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 2014.

Limitation on Additional Development 

Alterations to Outbuilding

5. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 of and Class E (a) of Part 1 of Schedule 2 to the 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015, as 
amended, or any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument replacing, revoking 
or re-enacting that Order, with or without modification, the outbuilding hereby permitted shall not 

Page 25



be subsequently altered, improved or enlarged without the prior written permission of the Local 
Planning Authority having first been obtained.

Reason: In order that any further enlargement, improvement or other alteration of this outbuilding 
may be the subject of a separate planning application which the Local Planning Authority would 
wish to consider on its merits, having regard to the privacy and amenity of nearby residents and 
adopted planning policy and guidance, particularly policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy 2014.

Subdivision of Garden

6. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 of and Class A of Part 2 of Schedule 2 to the Town 
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015, or any provision 
equivalent to that Class in any Order replacing, revoking or re-enacting that Order, with or without 
modification, no gate, fence or other means of enclosure shall be erected or constructed on the 
site which would have the effect of subdividing the extended residential curtilage as hereby 
permitted.

Reason: To safeguard against subdivision of the existing single residential curtilage that would 
facilitate independent occupation of the development, as a separate unit of accommodation would 
be inappropriate on this site, in accordance with Policies CS02 and CS19 of the Gravesham Local 
Plan Core Strategy 2014.

Levels 

7. The ground level of the outbuilding as hereby permitted shall accord with the original ground 
level of the now demolished garages on the site and the ground levels on the site shall not be 
raised otherwise than with the prior written permission of the Local Planning Authority having first 
been obtained.

Reason:  In order to protect the amenity and privacy of the occupants of the neighbouring 
properties and ensure that the outbuilding does not appear visually dominant when viewed from 
neighbouring gardens and in accordance with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core 
Strategy (September 2014).

Boundary Fencing

8.  The size and siting of the outbuilding as hereby permitted shall ensure that the building and 
extended garden curtilage is fully enclosed and all garden boundaries are maintained and that 
there is no encroachment on to any adjoining property; for the avoidance of doubt any existing 
garden boundaries that are currently not enclosed by fencing shall be enclosed by timber fencing 
to a height of 2m above the existing ground level of the site before the outbuilding hereby 
permitted is first occupied.

Reason: In order to protect the amenity and privacy of the occupants of the neighbouring 
properties and in accordance with Policy CS19 of the Gravesham Local Plan Core Strategy 
(September 2014).

Lighting

Page 26



9.  No external lighting shall be erected or placed on the outbuilding hereby permitted without the 
prior written permission of the Local Planning Authority having first been obtained.

Reason: In the interests of visual and residential amenity and in accordance with Policy CS19 of 
Gravesham's Local Plan Core Strategy (2014).

INFORMATIVES:-

1. DEVIATION FROM APPROVED PLANS 

Deviation from or amendment to the approved plans could require a further application and 
permission/consent.  In the event that any change is proposed, applicants and builders are 
advised to seek advice from the Local Planning Authority.  Proceeding without the necessary 
permissions or consents could result in enforcement action.

2. BUILDING REGULATIONS AND PARTY WALL ACT

This decision DOES NOT imply any consent which may be required under the Building 
Regulations or under any other enactment or provision. Nor does it override any private rights 
which any person may have relating to the land affected by this decision, including the provisions 
of the Party Wall etc. Act 1996.

3. STATEMENT OF POSITIVE AND PROACTIVE APPROACH TO DECISION- TAKING

In accordance with Article 35 (2) of the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), and paragraph 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) 2019, the Local Planning Authority has approached the assessment 
and determination of this application in a positive and creative way and, where appropriate, has 
worked pro-actively with the applicant to secure a development that is sustainable and that 
improves the economic, social and environmental conditions of the area, and that is in accordance 
with the Development Plan for the area.

The application was considered by the Borough Council’s Regulatory Board (Planning Committee) 
where the applicant had the opportunity to address the committee and promote the application.

4. WORKS OF CONSTRUCTION

Hours of work of construction site plant, equipment and machinery, should be restricted to not 
earlier than 7.00 a.m. and not later than 6.00 p.m. weekdays and Saturday working should be 
restricted to not earlier than 8.00a.m. and not later than 1.00 p.m.  No work shall be carried out on 
Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays. 

i.  Suitable sound attenuation shall be used at all times in respect of all plant, machinery and 
equipment in operation on site in order to aid prevention of noise nuisance.  Compliance with BS 
5228: Part 1: 1984 and subsequent amendments regarding the use of equipment on site will be 
required in appropriate cases.

ii.  A suitable method of control shall be used in order to aid prevention of dust nuisance arising 
from work activities on site.

Page 27



iii.  Burning of waste materials shall not be carried out on site.  Such materials are to be stored in a 
suitable receptacle, as far from residential accommodation as reasonably practicable, pending 
disposal off site.

iv.  Adequate arrangements shall be made to remove all waste material from the site on a regular 
basis and to dispose of it at a suitably licensed waste disposal site.

Page 28



Page 29

McEllistrum, Richard
Polygon Line

McEllistrum, Richard_1
Typewriter
20200912 - 22a Chalky Bank



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 To sign the Minutes of the previous meeting
	5a 20200912 - Land adjacent to The Haven 22A Chalky Bank, Gravesend DA11 7NY - Demolition of garages, erection of outbuilding and incorporation of land into the garden curtilage of 22A Chalky Bank - report herewith
	Chalky Bank OS




